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WASHINGTON LEGAL FOUNDATION 

2009 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, DC 20036 

202 588-0302 
 
 
 

June 11, 2007 
 
By Facsimile [301-796-9877] 
   and First-Class Mail 
 
Thomas Abrams, RPh, MBA 
Director  
Division of Drug Marketing, Advertising, and Communications 
10903 New Hampshire Ave. 
Bldg 22 Rm 1400 
Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002 
 
Re:  NDA # 50-793 
 Clindesse™ (clindamycin phosphate) Vaginal Cream, 2% 
 MACMIS ID # 15021 
 
Dear Mr. Abrams: 
 
On May 17, 2007, the Division of Drug Marketing, Advertising, and Communications 
(DDMAC) sent an untitled letter to KV Pharmaceutical Company (KV) alleging that an e-
Pharm/alert e-mail for Clindesse™ (clindamycin phosphate) Vaginal Cream, 2% was false or 
misleading and therefore misbranded the drug in violation of section 502(a) and (n) of the 
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FDCA), 21 U.S.C. § 352(a) & (n).  For the reasons 
discussed below, DDMAC should withdraw the letter.1 
 
Failure to Clarify Status of Internet Communications  
 
DDMAC’s untitled letter is improper because it presupposes a clarity in the rules governing 
internet and related communications that simply does not exist. 
 
There are no legal or regulatory provisions applicable specifically to email or other internet 
communications regarding prescription drugs.  The untitled letter cites both an FDCA labeling 
provision and an FDCA advertising provision, indicating that DDMAC has not determined 
which of the two regulatory regimes applies to the email (assuming that one of them applies). 

                                                 
1 In previous correspondence with you, we have listed all of the previous letters in which we explained our 
objections to DDMAC’s efforts to regulate the content of prescription drug communications.  For the sake of 
brevity, we are discontinuing that practice.  All of the concerns WLF is raising in this letter to you have been raised 
before.   
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DDMAC has never issued guidance on email or internet communications, despite promises to do 
so.  At a widely attended public meeting in 1996 on FDA regulation of the internet, FDA’s then-
Deputy Commissioner for Policy stated: “Before today, the Agency officials have met with 
representatives from a number of individual companies and there are a lot of questions that have 
been raised that don't have obvious answers. The one thing the industry I think is very reasonably 
requesting from the Agency is guidance so that it knows exactly what the rules are.  . . . 
companies that we regulate have, I think, very reasonably said we would like some guidance, we 
need to know what the rules are.”  See http://www.fda.gov/opacom/morechoices/transcript1096/fdainet1.html.  
As late as June 1998, DDMAC was promising to issue guidance on internet promotions of 
prescription drugs “shortly.”  The Tan Sheet, June 15, 1998. 
 
Just three months later, and even though industry’s concededly reasonable request for guidance 
remained unfulfilled, DDMAC issued an untitled letter to Orphan Medical alleging that 
information on its web site lacked fair balance in violation of FDA’s drug labeling regulations 
and impermissibly promoted one of the company’s investigational drugs.  As of 2000, 
DDMAC’s publicly stated position was that it had no intention of issuing a guidance document 
addressing internet communications.  See, e.g., The Pink Sheet, Oct. 30, 2000.  Since then, FDA 
has sent warning and untitled letters to other companies alleging that their respective web sites 
violated the FDCA.  E.g., Warning Letter to GlaxoSmithKline (June 30, 2006) (Zovirax® 
Ointment 5%); Warning Letter to Bioniche Pharma Group Ltd. (Apr. 4, 2006) (Sotradecol®); 
Warning Letter to Actelion Pharmaceuticals US, Inc. (July 20, 2005) (Tracleer®); Warning 
Letter to Alcon Labs., Inc. (Apr. 27, 2005) (CIPRO HC OTIC); Warning Letter to VIVUS, Inc. 
(May 25, 2004) (MUSE); Untitled Letter to King & Spaulding [sic] (June 18, 2003) 
(AMNESTEEM).   
 
DDMAC should either issue guidance explaining its regulatory expectations with respect to 
email and other internet promotional communications, as required by 21 U.S.C. § 371(h) and 21 
C.F.R. § 10.115, or refrain from imposing such expectations on industry through warning and 
untitled letters in violation of those provisions.2  It is inappropriate for DDMAC to take action 
against internet communications without first providing guidance to pharmaceutical companies.   
 
Unsubstantiated Allegations of Misleadingness  
 
DDMAC alleges that the email for Clindesse contains a variety of implied claims.  DDMAC’s 
allegations are unsupported by data from studies designed to assess the messages that the 
intended audience takes away from the email.  DDMAC’s continued insistence on interpreting 
promotional materials without objective corroboration raises important statutory and 
constitutional issues.  This issue is fully addressed in our previous submissions. 
 
DDMAC’s interpretations of statements in the email appear deliberately calculated to be more 
expansive than could possibly be supported by the cited substantiation.  For example, the email 
states: “Improvement in compliance may be associated with improved efficacy.”  According to 
DDMAC, this means that Clindesse “improves and enhances patient compliance compared to 
                                                 
2 As WLF advised in our citizen petition submitted on April 16, 2001 (Docket No. 01P-0187), information presented 
or available on a company web site does not constitute “labeling” as defined by the FDCA, 21 U.S.C. § 321(m).   
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other products indicated for the treatment of bacterial vaginosis and, as a result of superior 
compliance, is more effective than those products.”  DDMAC’s interpretation both ignores the 
“may be” qualifier and attributes to the statement a comparison “to other products indicated for 
the treatment of bacterial vaginosis” when such a comparative statement simply does not exist. 
 
A more careful analysis of the email demonstrates that this statement is not comparative.  
According to the reference on which KV relies: 
 

Advances in technology are recognised [sic] as beneficial to patients in 
terms of enhancing compliance rates; increasing the likelihood of 
therapeutic efficacy, and possibly decreasing healthcare costs associated 
with nonadherence.  In [one] clinical study, women who received 
clindamycin phosphate 2% SR were found to be 95.4% compliant with the 
whole treatment duration (i.e., one dose).  Conversely, women randomised 
[sic] to the 7-day treatment of clindamycin had a decrease in compliance 
correlated to days of dosing therapy.  By day 3 of therapy, compliance 
with 7-day clindamycin was 89.1%, a statistically significant decrease in 
compliance compared with the 95.4% found with one-dose of clindamycin 
phosphate 2% SR.3   

 
Read in context, the statement simply articulates the obvious proposition that a patient is more 
likely to realize the clinical benefits of a therapy if she actually follows the prescribed dosing 
regimen, and that adherence is more likely with a single dose than it is with seven daily doses.  
DDMAC’s interpretation of the statement is simply at odds with the actual content of the email. 
 
As we have previously explained, to adequately respect the First Amendment, DDMAC should 
have data corroborating its interpretations.  Because the untitled letter reflects no such 
corroboration, it is improper and should be withdrawn. 
 
Untenable Allegations of Overstatement of Efficacy   
 
DDMAC objects to the email on the grounds that its claim of 88 percent efficacy is “inconsistent 
with the efficacy information provided in the Clindesse PI.”  DDMAC’s position is deeply 
troubling in view of the relevant statutory and regulatory authorities.   
 
It is well-established that a manufacturer is entitled to make promotional claims for a 
prescription drug based on clinical data that are not themselves set forth in the approved labeling.  
Under the FDCA and FDA regulations, prescription drug advertisements: (1) must not be “false 
or misleading with respect to side effects, contraindications, or effectiveness” (21 C.F.R. § 
202.1(e)(5)(i)); (2) must not cause the drug to be in violation of the statutory “adequate 
directions for use” requirement (21 U.S.C. § 352(f)(1)); and (3) must be based on substantial 
evidence or substantial clinical experience (21 C.F.R. § 202.1(e)(6)(i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (xvi)).  
Nothing prohibits a manufacturer from claiming efficacy beyond that reported in the clinical 

                                                 
3 Merabet J, Thompson D, Levinson RS. Advancing vaginal drug delivery.  Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 2005;2:769-
777, 775.   



 

 4 
DC1 970846v.1 

investigations included in the approved labeling, provided those claims meet these statutory and 
regulatory requirements.   
DDMAC has cited the regulation prohibiting false or misleading efficacy claims in advertising, 
and the untitled letter does not cite the adequate directions provision of the FDCA.  Accordingly, 
it appears that the only available objection to the 88 percent claim is that it is not adequately 
substantiated.  Yet, rather than alleging that the cited study cannot support the 88 percent 
efficacy claim, DDMAC contends that the claim is improper simply because the study used a 
definition of clinical cure different from the definition used in the pivotal studies.  DDMAC 
explicitly acknowledges that the cited study did, in fact, report that 88 percent of subjects treated 
with Clindesse had 3 of 4 Amsel criteria resolved.  DDMAC’s objection is based solely on the 
fact that the pivotal studies used a “4 out of 4” definition of clinical cure. 
 
This is an insufficient basis for DDMAC to object to the email.  For one thing, KV’s e-mail 
explicitly stated that that the 88 percent cure rate was based on resolution of 3 out of 4 Amsel 
criteria.  Those who received the email therefore could not possibly have been misled into 
believing that the study used the same definition of clinical cure as had been used in the pivotal 
studies.  Moreover, the “3 out of 4” definition is completely consistent with the CDC guidelines’ 
recommendation that diagnosis be based on 3 out of 4 Amsel criteria.  Finally, the criteria for 
cure in previous clinical studies with Cleocin Vaginal Cream were based on resolution of 2 out 
of 4 Amsel criteria, as DDMAC acknowledges.  It is hard to see how DDMAC could object to 
the “3 out of 4” definition when other clinical studies have used yet a third definition. 
 
This letter provides yet another example of DDMAC’s established policy of prohibiting the use 
of clinical studies in promotion with which it disagrees, even if data from those studies are 
presented in a manner that is completely truthful and non-misleading.  DDMAC’s position is in 
conflict with the First Amendment requirement that the government refrain from imposing a 
blanket ban on potentially misleading speech when any such potential can be obviated through 
use of disclaimers.  This issue is discussed further below. 
 
Impermissible Ban on the Use of Clinical Studies in Promotion 
 
DDMAC alleges that the claim, “Clindamycin has demonstrated better activity than 
metronidazole against 3 of the most common pathogens implicated in BV,” is misleading 
because “it suggests that Clindesse is more effective than any metronidazole formulation because 
of clindamycin’s purported superior activity against the most common pathogens in BV.”  
DDMAC objects to the claim on three grounds, each of which is untenable. 
 
First, DDMAC asserts that: “[n]one of the references cited presents data evaluating the Clindesse 
formulation of clindamycin.”  It is not clear why KV would need data evaluating the Clindesse 
formulation of clindamycin when the claim does not directly or implicitly refer to the Clindesse 
formulation—it merely states: “Clindamycin has demonstrated better activity than 
metronidazole.”  This is another example of DDMAC requiring substantiation for a claim that is 
attributed, without sufficient grounds, to a promotional piece, rather than for the claim that is 
actually made. 
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Second, DDMAC asserts that the data do not “include a head-to-head comparison of any 
clindamycin formulation to any metronidazole formulation” and that “in vitro data [do] not 
constitute substantial evidence to support a claim or implication of superior clinical 
effectiveness.”  Even if the e-mail contained a claim of clinical efficacy based solely on in vitro 
data, it is not clear that KV would lack justification for including the claim in its promotional 
materials.  Despite the plain language of 21 C.F.R. 202.1(e)(6)(vii), FDA itself has recognized 
the clinical significance of in vitro data.  In fact, FDA’s prescription drug labeling regulations 
provide for the presentation of in vitro data in dosing-related sections.  Id. § 201.57(c)(3)(iv), 
(c)(11).  Furthermore, applications for the approval of new drugs require the inclusion of data 
from in vitro studies conducted by the manufacturer.  See id. § 314.50.  DDMAC’s attempt to 
preclude KV from using in vitro data in support of its claims is to that extent inconsistent with 
FDA’s own regulatory requirements.  At a minimum, DDMAC must permit the presentation of 
in vitro data with disclaimers as necessary to assure that the presentation is truthful and non-
misleading.  It is not clear that anyone other than the DDMAC personnel involved in the 
preparation and review of this untitled letter would believe that KV’s disclaimer (“In vitro 
activity does not necessarily imply clinical effectiveness”) was insufficient to dispel any 
confusion. 
 
Finally, DDMAC asserts that “there is no standard methodology for determining antibiotic 
susceptibility” to the three pathogens.  That there may be no standard methodology for 
evaluating susceptibility does not mean that KV cannot determine its own methodology in order 
to communicate important scientific information based on this determination. 
 
DDMAC’s position, that promotional claims may only rely for substantiation on sources that 
meet FDA’s high standard—the same standard used to determine whether a drug is approvable—
not only harms the public health by keeping new scientific developments from health care 
practitioners, but also raises significant questions under the First Amendment.  As a legal matter, 
a prescription drug manufacturer is entitled to make statements in its promotional materials 
based on sources of information that do not meet federal regulators’ definition of an adequate 
and well-controlled clinical investigation. 
 
It is a bedrock principle of First Amendment law that the government may not ban speech based 
on its potential to mislead, if the speech is presented in a manner that is truthful and non-
misleading.  The most obvious way for DDMAC to comply with this principle would be to allow 
sponsors to make promotional claims based on clinical investigations and on other sources of 
data and information as long as those claims are presented with any necessary disclaimers.  
Central Hudson Gas & Elec. Corp. v. Public Serv. Comm’n, 447 U.S. 557, 565 (1980) (“The 
State cannot regulate speech that poses no danger to the asserted state interest, nor can it 
completely suppress information when narrower restrictions on expression would serve its 
interest as well.”); Bates v. State Bar, 433 U.S. 350, 375 (1977) (“the preferred remedy is more 
disclosure, rather than less”).  Consistent with these constitutional principles, DDMAC must 
allow manufacturers to convey information about their products to health care practitioners—
even if that information is (in DDMAC’s view) obtained from clinical studies or other sources 
that do not meet DDMAC’s exacting standards.   
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In this instance, KV is entitled to make truthful and non-misleading statements in its  
promotional materials, regardless whether FDA is aware of the supporting data, or considers the 
data to be sufficiently “substantial.”  FDA is not a peer-review mechanism for the medical 
community.  Washington Legal Found. v. Friedman, 13 F. Supp. 2d 51, 67 (D.D.C. 1998).  
Because scientific viewpoints may differ as to the usefulness of any particular study in clinical 
practice, the only course that respects First Amendment values is for DDMAC to allow truthful 
and non-misleading claims about all studies, whether or not they are deemed acceptable by FDA.  
West Virginia State Bd. of Educ. v. Barnette, 319 U.S. 624, 642 (1943).   
 
DDMAC’s approach of precluding KV from discussing in vitro data, for example, would deprive 
physicians of useful information about therapeutic products in violation of the First Amendment.  
Virginia State Bd. v. Virginia Citizens Consumer Council, 425 U.S. 748, 757 (1976) (The Court 
has not “recognized any . . . limitation on the independent right of the listener to receive the 
information sought to be communicated.”); Roe v. Ingraham, 364 F. Supp. 536, 543 (S.D.N.Y. 
1973) (“the First Amendment has been held to include a correlative right to receive information 
and ideas”).  As discussed above, to the extent that any claims may be misleading, under the First 
Amendment, manufacturers are entitled to use, and DDMAC is required to accept, disclaimers 
sufficient to ensure that the statements are truthful and non-misleading.  See Pearson v. Shalala, 
164 F.3d 650 (D.C. Cir.), reh’g denied, 172 F.3d 72 (D.C. Cir. 1999). 
 
We have previously objected to DDMAC’s issuance of warning and untitled letters stating that 
companies may not use clinical investigations or other sources of information in promotional 
materials unless DDMAC has determined that these sources are satisfactory.  DDMAC clearly 
has an established practice and policy of banning any statements, even if truthful and non-
misleading, that are based on clinical investigations or other sources that DDMAC deems 
inadequate.  For the reasons discussed above, we renew our objection.    
 
Untenable Allegations of Minimization of Risk  
 
DDMAC also asserts that the email minimizes the risks associated with use of Clindesse because 
“effectiveness claims are presented using large, bolded headers with bullets as well as colorful 
graphics and a colored background,” while risk information is disclosed at the end of the e-mail 
after and separated from all the effectiveness claims, blocked in paragraph format, without the 
use of headers or bullets, and with smaller font.  DDMAC appears to base its assertion on 21 
C.F.R. § 202.1(e)(7)(viii), an advertising regulation promulgated by FDA to implement the 
FDCA provision relating to prescription drug advertising, 21 U.S.C. § 352(n) (the “true 
statement” requirement).  This regulation provides that an advertisement “may be . . . violative” 
if it does not present risk information “with a prominence and readability reasonably 
comparable” to the prominence and readability with which effectiveness claims are presented.   
 
DDMAC’s reliance on this regulation is misguided.  As discussed above and as DDMAC 
concedes by citing both subsection (a) and subsection (n) of FDCA § 502, it has not determined 
that email is subject to the statutory and regulatory provisions governing advertising.  Materials 
defined as “labeling” under the FDCA are not subject to this regulation; FDA’s prescription drug 
labeling regulations in 21 C.F.R. part 201 nowhere purport to require disclosure of risk 
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information in promotional labeling, “with a prominence and readability reasonably comparable” 
to the prominence and readability with which effectiveness claims are presented.   
 
Nor may DDMAC apply 21 C.F.R. § 202.1(e)(7)(viii) by analogy.  Federal law clearly 
contemplates that FDA will provide notice and a meaningful opportunity for affected parties to 
comment before articulating regulatory expectations for the first time.  21 U.S.C. § 371(h); 21 
C.F.R. § 10.115.  The proper procedure for announcing a new interpretation of a regulation is the 
guidance development process.  FDA has issued a draft guidance document on the section 502(n) 
brief summary requirement for prescription drug advertisements, and has announced its intention 
to develop an additional guidance document on  fair balance.  But there is currently no guidance 
addressing the relevance of § 202.1(e)(7)(viii) in the labeling context.   
 
Nor is there guidance on how manufacturers can present risk information with sufficient 
prominence and readability to satisfy DDMAC.  The untitled letter certainly provides no hints as 
to DDMAC’s expectations in this regard, other than to “request” that KV cease the dissemination 
of the email. 
 
Conclusion and Requested Action 
 
We request that DDMAC immediately withdraw the untitled letter to KV concerning Clindesse 
Vaginal Cream.  We urge DDMAC to cease the issuance of warning and untitled letters and 
advisory correspondence that contain allegations the same as or similar to those described above.       
 
The deficiencies described in this letter do not necessarily constitute an exhaustive list.  DDMAC 
must ensure that its actions with respect to prescription drug promotion, and to other forms of 
commercial speech, comply with the First Amendment, and do not exceed FDA’s statutory 
authority under the FDCA. 
 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 

Richard A. Samp 
Chief Counsel 

 
cc:  Sheldon Bradshaw (GCF-1) 


